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JAMES H. HOLL, III, CA Bar No. 177885 

2 
ALAN I. EDELMAN, DC Bar No. 3 75495 
11 55 21 51 Street, NW 

3 Washington, DC 20581 

4 Telephone (202) 418-5000 
Facsimile (202) 418-5523 

5 jholl@cftc.gov 

6 
aedelman@cftc.gov 
Attorneys for Plaintiff U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission 

7 

8 

9 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 
UNITED STATES COMMODITY 

1 1 FUTURES TRADING 
12 COMMISSION, 

13 

14 vs. 
Plaintiff, 

15 DIRECT INVESTMENT 
16 PRODUCTS, INC. and 

ALEXANDER GLYTENKO, 
17 

) 
) Case No. '13CV2887 OMS NLS 
) 
) 
) COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE 
) AND OTHER EQUITABLE 
) RELIEF AND PENALTIES UNDER 
) THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE 
) ACT, AS AMENDED, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1-
) et seq. 
) 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Defendants. ) 
--------~~==~--------

I. SUMMARY 

I. From approximately 2005 until approximately 201 0 (the 

22 "relevant period"), Direct Investment Products, Inc. ("DIP"), by and 

23 through the actions of its employees and agents, including, but not 
24 

25 
limited to, Alexander Glytenko ("Giytenko") (collectively, 

26 "Defendants"), fraudulently solicited approximately $3.9 million 

27 
from approximately 761 individuals residing in Russia and various 

28 
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fo rmer republics of the fo rmer So vie t Uni on to become part ic ipants in 

2 
a commodi ty poo l known as DIP Capital Partne rs ( the "Poo l" ) that 

3 

4 traded in futures and options on com moditi es, ind ices, c urre nc ies, 

5 treasury bonds and notes, and meta ls . 

(i 
2 . Du ring the cou rse of so lic iting prospecti ve partic ipa nts for 

7 

the Pool, De fe ndants, e ither directly o r through the ir agents, s 

9 knov,ring ly mis represented the Pool's performance his tory by: a) 

10 

I I 

12 

presenting to prospecti ve parti cipants pro fitable per fo rma nce fi gures 

for various of the Poo l's funds fo r years in whi ch they knev.r the Poo l 

13 did not ex ist; b) presenting to prospecti ve partic ipants hy po the tical 

14 
trading perfo rmance w ithout labe ling it as such; and c) presenting to 

15 

16 prospective pa rtic ipants at least two years of pro fi table performance 

17 results fo r one o f' the Poo l' s fu nds w he n, in fact, tha t fund had 

IR 
experie nced losses during those years . 

19 

20 3. Defe ndants, e ither di rectly o r through thc i r agents, also 

21 knowing ly mis represented the Poo l's perfo rmance to ac tua l 

22 
pa rtic ipants by : a) p rov iding partic ipa nts w ith pro fitable perlo rmance 

23 

24 

25 

2o 

fi gures the Pool's trad ing s trategy fo r years in which they knew the 

Pool di d no t ex is t; b) prov iding to partic ipa nts hy po theti cal trading 

pe rfo rmance w ithout labe ling it as such; c) provid ing to pa rt ic ipants 
27 

2 
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account statements which they knew contained inaccurate or falsified 

information. 

4. In November 2009, Defendants misappropriated at least 

5 $464,000 of participants' funds to make a personal loan fi·om the Pool to 

6 
Glytenko. This loan has never been repaid. 

7 

8 5. By virtue of this conduct and the conduct fm1her described 

9 herein, Defendants have engaged, a~e engaging in, or are about to engage in 

10 
conduct in violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of the Commodity Exchange 

11 

12 Act ("Act''), 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2){i)-(iii) (2006}, with respect to acts 

13 ocCUlTing before June 18,2008, Sections 4b(a)(1)(A)-(C) of the Act, as 

14 
amended by the Food, Conservation, and Energy Act of 2008, Pub. L. No. 

15 

16 110-246, Title XIII (the CFTC Reauthorization Act of2008 ("CRA")), §§ 

17 13101-13204, 122 Stat. 165l(enacted June 18, 2008}, 7 U.S.C. § 

18 

19 
6b(a)( I )(A)-(C) (Supp. II 2009}, for conduct occurring on or after June 18, 

20 2008, and Sections 4b(a)(l)(A)-(C} of the Act, as amended by the Dodd-

21 Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of2010 ("Dodd-

22 

23 
Frank Act"), Pub. L. No. 111-203, Title VII (the Wall Street Transparency 

24 and Accountability Act of20 I 0}, §§ 701-774, 124 Stat. 1376 (effective July 

25 16, 2011 ), 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)( 1 )(A)-(C) (Supp. JV 2011 }, for conduct 

26 

27 

28 

3 
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occul1'ing on or after July 16, 20 II; (ii) Section 4o(l) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 

6o(l); and (iii) Commission Regulation 4.4l{b), 17 C.F.R. §§ 4.41(b)(2013). 

6. At all relevant times, the acts and omissions of Glytenko and 

5 others were committed within the scope of their employment, agency, or 

6 
office with DIP and, therefore, DIP is liable for Glytenko's violations, as 

7 

8 well as for any other agents' violations of the Act and Regulations pursuant 

9 to Section 2(a)(l)(B) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(l)(B). 

10 

11 
7. During the relevant time, Glytenko directly and indirectly 

12 controlled DIP, and did not act in good faith or knowingly induced, directly 

13 or indirectly, the acts constituting DIP's violations described herein. 

14 

17 

18 

8. Unless restrained and enjoined by this CoUJ1, Defendants are 

likely to continue to engage in the acts and practices alleged in this 
19 

20 Complaint or in similar acts and practices, as described more fully below. 

21 

22 

23 
9. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

The CoUJ1 has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 

24 6c(a) of the Act, as amended, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §13a-I(a), which 

25 provides that, whenever it shall appear to the Commission that any person 

26 
has engaged in, is engaging in, or is about to engage in any act or practice 

27 

28 

4 
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that constitutes a viola tion of any provision of the Act or any rule, 

2 
regulation, or order promulgated thereunder, the Commission may bring an 

3 

4 action aga inst such person to enjoin such practice or to enforce compliance 

5 with the Act. 

10. Venue properly li es with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(c) of 
7 

8 the Act, as amended, to be codified at, 7 U.S.C. §13a- l(c), because 

9 Defendants arc found in, inhabit, or transact business in this District, or the 

10 
acts and practices in violation of the 1\ct occurred, are occurring, or arc 

I I 

12 about to occur with in this District, among other places. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

III. THE PARTIES 

A. Plaintiff 

I I. Pia inti ff U.S. Com modity Futures Trad ing Commission is an 

17 independent fed eral regulatory agency charged by Congress with the 

18 responsibility for administering and enforcing the provisions of the Act, as 
19 

amended, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ I et seq., and the Commission's 
20 

21 Regulations promulgated thereunder, 17 C.fo'.R. §§ 1 et seq. (20 12). 

22 

23 

24 

B. l>cfcndants 

12. Defendant Dit·cct Juvcsf mc nt Pt·oducts, Inc. is n California 

25 corporation incorporated in 2005 with its principal place of business in 

26 
Carlsbad, Cali lornia. OJ P has been registered with the Com mission as a 

27 

28 
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Commodity Trading Advisor ("CT A") and as a Commodity Pool Operator 

("CPO") since April 2007. 

13. Defendant Alexander Glytenlm is an individual whose last 

5 known address was in Carlsbad, Califomia. Glytenko is the Chief Executive 

6 
Officer and a controlling person of DIP. Since March 2007, Glytenko has 

7 

8 been a Principal of DIP, and, since April 2007, he has been registered with 

9 the Commission as an Associated Person ("AP") of DIP. Since March 2007, 

10 

I 1 
Glytcnko has also been a Principal and registered AP of Institutional Capital 

12 Management LLC, a registered CPO. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

IV. FACTS 

A. Defendants Fraudulently Solicited $3.9 Million From 
Approximately 761 Individuals 

14. From approximately 2005 until approximately 2010, DIP, by 

18 and through the actions of its employees and agents, including, but not 

19 limited to, Glytenko, fi·audulently solicited approximately $3.9 million from 

20 

21 
approximately 761 individuals residing in Russia and various former 

27 known as DIP Consulting for the purpose of soliciting individuals to become 

28 

6 
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participants in DIP Capital Pattners. From approximately 2005 until 

2 
approximately mid-2007, Glytenko was a co-director of DIP Consulting. 

3 

4 From approximately mid-2007 until approximately 20 I 0, Glytenko was the 

5 sole director of DIP Consulting. 

6 

7 
I 6. DIP Consulting conducted "educational seminars" that were 

8 held in cities throughout the former Soviet Union. During the course of 

9 these seminars, Defendants, either directly or through their agents in DIP 

10 
Consulting, presented prospective participants with promotional material 

11 

12 about DIP, the Pool, and the various funds that were being traded on behalf 

13 of the Pool. This promotional material included numerous charts which 

14 
were represented to be the trading performance history for the Pool and its 

IS 

16 various funds. 

17 I 7. At various times during the relevant period, Defendant 

18 

19 
Glytenko either directly or through their agents in DIP created, provided 

20 information that was used in the creation of, and/or approved the 

21 promotional material that was used at these seminars. At various times 

22 
during the relevant period, Defendant Glytenko also personaiJy.attended and 

23 

24 participated in these seminars. 

25 

26 

18. During the course of these seminars, Defendants, either directly 

or through their agents in DIP Consulting, misrepresented and omitted 
27 

28 

7 
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material facts about the perfonnance record of the Pool in order to induce 

2 
individuals to become pat1icipants in the Pool. For example, one cha11 

3 

4 
showed total growth in profits for the Pool of252% from January 2003 

5 through December 2008. The chart represented that the Pool made yearly 

6 
profits in each year during this time period, ranging fi·om 12.60% to 4 7 .20%. 

7 

8 
The chart represented that the Pool made a yearly profit of25.20% in 2003 

9 and a yearly profit of 18.09% in 2004. 

10 

11 
19. A second chart represented the growth in profits for one of the 

12 Pool's funds known as the DI-Growth Fund. This chart represented total 

13 growth in profits for the DI-Growth Fund of 245% from January 2004 

14 

15 
through December 2008. The chart represented that the DI-Growth Fund 

16 made yearly profits in each year during this time period, ranging fi·om 

17 12.0 I% to 41.12%. The chart represented that the DI-Growth Fund made a 

18 

19 
yearly profit of 41.12% in 2004. 

20 20. A third chatt represented the growth in profits for another of the 

21 Pool's funds known as the ICF Fund. This chart represented total growth in 

22 
profits for the ICF Fund of 322% fi·om January 2004 through December 

23 

24 2008. The chart represented that the ICF Fund made yearly profits in each 

25 year during this time period, ranging from I 0.16% to 49.79%. The chart 

26 
represented that the ICF Fund made a yearly profit of 4 7.22% in 2004. The 

27 

28 

8 
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chati also represented thatlCF made a yearly profit of 18.83% in 2007 and a 

yearly profit of I 0. J 6% in 2008. 

2 1. Contrary to the representations made by Defendant s, either 

5 directly or through their agents in DJP Consulting, the Pool's DI-Growth 

6 
Fund and lCF Fund did not make yearly profits in 2004, nor did the Pool 

7 

8 make overall yearly profits in 2003 and 2004, because the Pool did not exist 

9 unti l 2005. 

10 
22. 1\.lso contrary to the representations made by Defendants, either 

II 

12 directly or through their agents in DIP Consulting, the Pool 's ICF Fund did 

I 3 not make yearly profits of 18.83% in 2007 and l 0.16% in 2008; in fact, 

14 
according to certi tied financial statements filed with the Nati onal Futures 

I S 

16 Association, the ICF Fund experienced losses of 4.03% in 2007 and 43.15% 

17 in 2008. 

IR 

19 
23. Moreover, none of the performance figures represented on the 

20 charts presented to prospective participants is reflective of actual trading that 

21 

22 

was done by or on bchalfofthe Pool; rather, the fi gures re fl ect the 

theoretical performance of Defendant Dl P's proprietary trading strategy 
23 

24 known as DI-J>ortfo lio. Despite this fact, Defendants did not, either directly 

25 

26 

27 

or through their agents in DIP Consulting, include any disclaimer on the 

9 
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charts informing prospective patticipants that the performance presented was 

theoretical as opposed to actual. 

24. Based on the information presented to them at these seminars, 

5 numerous individuals became participants in the Pool. In deciding to 

6 
become patticipants in the Pool, participants relied, among other things, 

7 

8 upon Defendants' misrepresentations and omissions regarding the 

9 performance record of the Pool. 

10 

II 
25. Defendants, through their own acts and omissions and the acts 

12 and omissions of their agents, knowingly and recklessly made the material 

13 misrepresentations and omitted the material facts alleged above to induce 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

individuals to become patticipants in the Pool. 

B. Defendants Issued False Statements to Participants 

26. During the relevant period, Defendants, either directly or 

through their agents, maintained an internet website at www.di-holding.com. 

20 Defendants, either directly or through their agents, provided Pool 

21 patticipants with ongoing daily access to information pertaining to the 

22 
performance of the Pool and the Net Asset Value ("NAV") ofthe Pool 

23 

24 through a password-protected portal on the website. At various times during 

25 the relevant period, Defendant Glytenko either directly created or provided 

26 
information that was used in the creation of material that was posted on the 

27 

28 

10 
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website. At other times during the relevant time period, Defendant Glytenko 

reviewed and/or verified information prior to its posting on the website. 

27. Defendants, either dia·ectly or through their agents, 

5 misrepresented and omitted material facts regarding the perfomtance of the 

6 
Pool on the password-protected portion of the website in order to induce 

7 

8 Pool participants to maintain their funds in the Pool, to invest additional 

9 funds in the Pool, and to persuade others to become participants in the Pool. 

10 
For example, throughout the relevant time period, Defendants, either directly 

II 

12 or through their agents, provided pat1icipants with information on the 

13 password-protected pot1ion of the website that purported to represent the 

14 
historical returns achieved by the Pool's DI-Portfolio trading. strategy. This 

15 

16 infonnation consisted of chat1s that showed overall profitable retums for the 

17 strategy going back as far as 2002. The charts listed both monthly and 

18 

19 
yearly retums and represented that the strategy had achieved yearly returns 

20 of27.12o/o in 2002, 25.19% in 2003, and 18.07% in 2004. 

21 

22 

28. Contrary to the representations in these chat1s, the Pool's 

trading strategy did not achieve profits in 2002, 2003, and 2004 because the 
23 

24 Pool did not exist until 2005. Moreover, none of the performance figures 

25 represented on the charts provided to participants is reflective of actual 

26 
trading that was done by or on behalf of the Pool; rather, the figures reflect 

27 

28 

II 
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the theoretical performance ofDI-Portfolio trading strategy. Despite this 

2 
fact, Defendants did not, either directly or through their agents, include any 

3 

4 
disclaimer on the charts infonning prospective pat·ticipants that the 

5 performance presented was theoretical as opposed to actual. 

6 
29. Throughout the relevant time period, Defendants, either directly 

7 

8 or through theit· agents, also provided pat1icipants with infmmation on the 

9 password-protected portion of the website as to the Pool's NAY. The Pool's 

10 
NAY calculation was based on the net asset values of the various funds in 

11 

12 which the Pool traded. In or about late 2008, Defendants, either directly or 

13 through their agents, received infonnation that one of the funds in which the 

14 

15 
Pool was invested had sustained substantial losses. These losses would have 

16 a significant impact on the NAY of that particular fund and, in turn, on the 

17 NAY of the Pool itself. Despite their knowledge of this information, for 

18 

19 
several months thereafter Defendants neither updated the the Pool's NAV 

20 calculation to reflect these losses, nor did they infonn the Pool's participants 

21 of the losses and their impact on the Pool's NAY. Indeed, for at least 

22 
several months, Defendants, either directly or through their agents, provided 

23 

24 pa11icpants with NAY calculations that they knew were false or inaccurate. 

25 In addition, during this time period some Pool pm1icipants received 

26 

27 

28 

12 
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redemptions for their interests in the Pool based on NA. V calculations that 

Defendants knew were fa lse or inaccurate. 

30. Dcfcnd~nts' misrepresentations and omissions on the password-

5 protected portion of the website caused existing pmticipants to maintain 

G 
their funds in the Pool, to invest add it ion a I funds in the Pool , and to 

7 

8 persuade others to become participants in the Pool. 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

C. Defendants Misa pproprinted $464,000 of Pa rticipants' 
Funds 

3 I. Defendant DIP, by and through the actions of its employees and 

agents, including but not limited to Glytcnko, directed Pool participants to 

14 deposit funds into bank accounts held in the name of the Pool and controlled 

15 by Glytenko or agents under the control of Glytcnko. 

16 
32. As a result of the losses incurred by the Pool in late 2008, 

17 

18 Defendants, in or about .J anuary 2009, either directly or th rough their agents, 

19 instituted a freeze on participants' withdrawal of funds from the Pool. 

20 
33. While the freeze on part icipants' withdrawals was still in effect, 

21 

22 Defendant Glytcnko, in or about November 2009, used participnnts' funds to 

23 make a loan of$464,000 from DIP to himself. Under the terms of the loan 

24 
agreement, which docs not require repayment by Glytenko for live years, 

25 

26 there was no limitation on how Glytenko could usc this money. 

27 

28 
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34. To the present time, patticipants have been unable to withdraw 

their funds from the Pool. 

D. Glytenko Controlled DIP 

35. Glytenko is the Chief Executive Officer, principal, and majority 

shareholder of DIP. He exercised control over the day-to-day operations of 

8 DIP. He had authority to hire and fire DIP employees and he oversaw their 

9 activities. He entered into agreements and opened bank and trading 

10 
accounts on behalf of DIP. At various times during the relevant period, he 

II 

12 created, reviewed, and/or approved solicitation materials used to solicit 

13 potential participants, as well as information provided to actual patticipants 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

on the DIP website. 

V. VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT 

COUNT ONE 

VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 4b(a)(l)(A) AND (C) OF THE ACT: 
19 FRAUD BY FRAUDULENT SOLICITATION 

20 

21 
36. Paragraphs I through 35 are re-alleged and incorporated herein 

22 by reference. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

37. Sections 4b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) of the Act make it unlawful: 

for any person, in or in connection with any order to 
make, or the making of, any contract of sale of any 
commodity for future delivery, made, or to be made, for 
or on behalf of any other person if such contract for 
future delivery is or may be used for (A) hedging any 

14 
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4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 
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transaction in interstate commerce in such commodity or 
the products or byproducts thereof, or (B) determining 
the price basis of any transaction in interstate commerce 
in such commodity, or (C) delivedng any such 
commodity sold, shipped, or received in interstate 
commerce for the fulfillment thereof--(i) to cheat or 
defi·aud or attempt to cheat or defraud such other person . 
. . ; or (iii) willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive such 
other person by any means whatsoever in regard to any 
such order or contract or disposition or execution of any 
such order or contract, or in regard to any act of agency 
performed with respect to such order or contract for such 
person. 

Similarly, with respect to acts occmTing on or after June 18, 2008 and prior 

12 to July 16,2011, Sections 4b(a)(l)(A) and (C) ofthe Act, as amended by the 

13 CRA, make it unlawful: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

tor any person, in or in connection with any order to make, 
or the making of, any contract of sale of any commodity in 
interstate commerce or for future delivery that is made, or to 
be made, on or subject to the rules of a designated conh·act 
market, for or on behalf of any other person ... (A) to cheat 
or defraud or attempt to cheat o1· defmud the other person ... ; 
[or] (C) willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive the other 
person by any means whatsoever in regard to any orde•· or 
contract or the disposition or execution of any order or 
contract, or in regard to any act of agency performed, with 
respect to any order or contract for or, in the case of 
paragraph (2), with the other person. 

24 Sections 4b(a)(I)(A) and (C) ofthe Act, as amended by the Dodd-Frank Act, 

25 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(I)(A) and (C) (Supp. IV 2011), make the same conduct 

26 
unlawful in connection with acts occurring on or after July 16, 20 II. 

27 

28 

15 
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38. By, among other things: a) presenting to prospective 

2 
participants profitable performance figures for various of the Pool's 

3 

4 
funds for years in which they knew the Pool did not exist; b) 

5 presenting to prospective participants hypothetical t1·ading 

6 
performance without labeling it as such; and c) presenting to 

7 

8 prospective participants at least two years of profitable performance 

9 results for one of the Pool's funds when, in fact, that fund had 

10 

11 
experienced losses during those years, DIP, by and through the actions 

12 ofGiytenko, among others, knowingly, willfully, or with reckless disregard 

13 for the truth, violated Sections 4b(a)(2){i) and (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 

14 

15 
6b{a)(2)(i) and (iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June J 8, 

16 2008, Sections 4b(a)(l )(A) and (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, 7 

17 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l )(A) and (C) (Supp. II 2009), for conduct occurring on or 

18 

22 
1376 (effective July 16, 2011), 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(A) and (C) (Supp. IV 

23 

24 2011 ), for conduct occurring on or after July 16, 2011. 

25 

26 

39. Glytenko committed the acts alleged herein within the course 

and scope of his employment, office, or agency with DIP. DIP is therefore 
27 

28 

16 



Case 3:13-cv-02887-DMS-NLS Document 1 Filed 12/05/13 Page 17 of 32 

liable pursuant to Section 2(a)(l )(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(l )(B) 

2 
(2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (201 0), as principal for 

3 

4 
Glytenko's violations of the Act. 

5 40. Glytenko, directly or indirectly, controlled DIP and did not act 

6 
in good faith, or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts 

7 

8 constituting DIP's violations ofthe Act. Therefore, pursuant to Section l3{b) 

9 of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006), Glytenko is liable for DIP's violations 

10 
of the Act. 

II 

12 41. Each act of fraudulent solicitation, misappropriation and false 

13 statement or report, including but not limited to those specifically alleged 

14 

15 
hea·ein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i) 

16 and (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) (2006), with respect to 

17 acts occUlTing before June 18,2008, Sections 4b{a)(I)(A) and (C) of the Act, 

18 

19 
as amended by the CRA, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a){l)(A) and (C) (Supp. II 2009), for 

20 conduct occurring on or after June 18, 2008, and Sections 4b(a)(1 )(A) and 

21 (C) of the Act, as amended by the Dodd-Frank Act, Pub. L. No. 111-203, 

22 
Title VII (the Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act of2010), §§ 

23 

24 701-774, 124Stat.1376(effectiveJuly 16,2011), 7U.S.C.§6b(a)(I)(A) 

25 and (C) (Supp. IV 20 II), for conduct occuning on or after July 16, 2011. 

26 

27 

28 

17 
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COUNT TWO 

VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 4b(a)(l)(A) AND (C) OF THE ACT: 
FRAUD BY MISAPPROPRIATION 

42. Paragraphs I through 41 are re-alleged and incorporated herein 

6 by reference. 

7 43. By using funds solicited and accepted for the purpose of trading 

8 
commodity futures to make a personal loan to Glytenko, Defendants 

9 

10 knowingly and willfully misappropriated funds in violation of Sections 

II 4b(a)(I )(A) and (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, 7 U.S.C. § 

12 

13 
6b(a)(l )(A) and (C) (Supp. II 2009), for conduct occurring on or after June 

14 18,2008. 

15 44. The foregoing acts of misappropriation by Glytenko occurred 

16 

17 
within the course and scope of his employment, office, or agency with DIP. 

18 DIP is therefore liable pursuant to Section 2(a)(l)(B) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 

19 2(a)(l)(B) (2006}, and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2010}, as principal 

20 
for Glytenko's violations of the Act. 

21 

22 45. Glytenko, directly or indirectly, controlled DIP and did not act 

23 in good faith, or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts 

24 
constituting DIP's violations of the Act. Therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) 

25 

26 of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006}, Glytenko is liable for DIP's violations 

27 of the Act. 
28 

18 
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COUNT THREE 

VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 4b(a)(l)(B) OF THE ACT: 
FRAUD BY FALSE STATEMENTS 

46. Paragraphs I through 45 are re-alleged and incorpoa-ated herein 

6 by reference. 

7 47. Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act makes it unlawful: 

8 

9 

to 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

for any person, in or in connection with any order to make, 
or the making of, any contract of sale of any commodity for 
future delivery, made, or to be made, for or on behalf of any 
other person if such contract for future delivery is or may be 
used for (A) hedging any transaction in interstate commerce 
in such commodity or the products or byproducts thereof, or 
(B) determining the price basis of any transaction in 
interstate commerce in such commodity, or (C) delivering 
any such commodity sold, shipped, or received in interstate 
commerce for the fulfillment thereof ... [to] (ii) willfully to 
make or cause to be made to such other person any false 
report or statement thereof .... 

17 Similarly, with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008 and prior 

18 

19 
to July 16,2011, Section 4b(a)(l)(B) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, 

20 makes it unlawful: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

for any person, in or in connection with any order to make, 
or the making of, any contract of sale of any commodity in 
interstate commerce or for future delivery that is made, or to 
be made, on or subject to the rules of a designated contract 
market, for or on behalf of any other person ... [to] (B) 
willfully to make or cause to be made to the other person 
any false repm1 or statement or willfully to enter or cause to 
be entered for the other person any false record .... 

19 
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Section 4b(a)(l)(B) ofthe Act, as amended by the Dodd-Frank Act, 7 U.S.C. 

2 
§ 6b(a)(l )(B) (Supp. IV 2011 ), makes the same conduct unlawful in 

3 

4 
connection with acts occun-ing on or after July 16, 20 II. 

5 48. By making, or causing to be made, false statements to 

6 
patticipants in the fonn of communications on the password-protected 

7 

8 
portion of the website that: a) misrepresented and omitted material facts 

9 about the perfotmance history of the Pool's DI-Pmtfolio trading strategy; 

10 
and b) reported false and inaccurate NAV calculations for the Pool, DIP, by 

II 

12 and through the actions ofGlytenko, among others, knowingly, willfully, or 

13 with reckless disregard for the truth, violated Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 

14 

15 
7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(ii) (2006), with respect to acts occutTing before June 18, 

16 2008, Sections 4b(a)(I )(B) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, 7 U.S.C. § 

17 6b(a)( I )(B) (Supp. II 2009), for conduct occurring on or after June 18, 2008, 

18 

19 
and Sections 4b(a)(l )(B) of the Act, as amended by the Dodd-Frank Act, 

20 Pub. L. No. 111-203, Title VII (the Wall Street Transparency and 

21 Accountability Act of201 0), §§ 701-774, 124 Stat. 1376 (effective July 16, 

22 
2011 }, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)( I )(B) (Supp. IV 2011 ), for conduct occurring on or 

23 

24 after July 16, 2011. 

25 

26 

49. Glytenko committed the acts alleged herein within the 

course and scope of his employment, office, or agency with DIP. DIP is 
27 

28 

20 
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therefore liable pursunnt to Section 2(a)( I )(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 

2 
2(a)( I )(B) (2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.f..R. § 1.2 (20 I 0), as principal 

3 

4 for Glytenko's violat ions of the Act. 

5 50. Glytcnko, directly or indirectly, controlled DIP and did not act 

6 
in good fa ith, or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the nets 

7 

8 constituting DIP's violations ofthc Act. Therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) 

9 of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006), Glytcnko is liable for Dl P's violations 

10 

I I 

12 

of the Act. 

5 1. Each oct of fa lse statement or report, including but not limited 

13 to those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct 

14 

15 
violation of Section 4b(a)(2)(ii ) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)( ii ) (2006), 

16 with respect to acts occurring before .I unc 18, 2008, Sections 4b(a)( I )(B) of 

17 the Act, as amended by the CRA, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)( I )(B) (Supp. II 2009), for 

18 
conduct occurring on or after June 18, 2008, and Sections 4b(n)( I )(B) of the 

19 

20 Act, as amended by the Dodd-f-rank Act, Pub. L. No. 111 -203, Title VJ I (the 

21 

22 

Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act of 2010), §§ 70 1-774, 124 

Stat. 1376 (e flcclive July 16, 2011), 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(B) (Supp. IV 2011), 
23 

24 for conduct occurring on or after July I 6, 20 I I. 

25 

26 

27 

2H 

21 
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COUNT FOUR 

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4o(l)(A) AND (B) OF THE ACT: 
FRAUD AS A CPO AND ASSOCIATED PERSON OF A CPO 

52. Paragraphs I through 51 are re-alleged and incorporated herein 

6 by reference. 

7 53. Sections 4o(l)(A) and (B) ofthe Act as amended, 7 U.S.C. §§ 

8 
6o(l )(A) and (B) make it unlawful: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

for commodity trading advisor, associated person of a 
commodity trading advisor, commodity pool operator, or 
associated person of a commodity pool operator by use of 
the mails or any means or instaumentality of interstate 
commerce, directly or indirectly- (A) to employ any 
device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any client or 
participant or prospective client or participant; or (B) to 
engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business 
which operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or 
participant or prospective client or participant. 

17 54. Section la(5) ofthe Act defines a CPO as: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

any person engaged in a business that is of the nature of an 
investment trust, syndicate, or similar fmm of enterprise, 
and who, in connection therewith, solicits, accepts or 
receives from others, funds, securities, or propeaty, either 
directly or through capital contributions, the sale of stock or 
other forms of securities, or otherwise, for the purpose of 
trading in any commodity for future delivery on or subject to 
the rules of any contract market. ... 

As defined by Commission Regulation 1.3(aa)(3), 17 C.F.R. § 1.3(aa) 
25 

26 (2013), an AP of a CPO is a natural person who is associated with a 

27 CPO: 
28 

22 
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as a partner, officer, employee, consultant, or agent (or any 
natural person occupying a similar status or performing 
similar functions), in any capacity which involves (i) the 
solicitation of funds, securities, or propetty for a 
patticipation in a commodity pool or (ii) the supervision of 
any person or persons so engaged(.] 

55. By engaging in a business that is of the nature of an investment 

8 trust, syndicate, or similar form of enterprise and by soliciting, accepting, or 

9 receiving funds fi·om others for the purpose of, among other things, trading 

10 
in futures, Defendant DIP acted as the CPO of the DIP Capital Pattners Pool. 

11 

12 As a partner, officer, employee, or agent of DIP in a capacity that involved 

13 the solicitation of funds, securities, or property for a participation in a 

14 

15 
commodity pool or the supervision of persons so engaged, Defendant 

16 Glytenko acted as an AP of a CPO. 

17 56. By the acts of fraudulent solicitation, misappropriation, and 

18 

19 
false statements and repmts set fotth above, DIP, by and through the actions 

20 ofGlytenko, among others, and while acting as a CPO, and Glytenko, while 

21 acting as an AP of DIP, violated Sections 4o(l)(A) and (B) ofthe Act as 

22 
amended, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6o(l )(A) and (B). 

23 

24 57. Glytenko committed the acts alleged herein within the course 

25 and scope of his employment, office, or agency with DIP. DIP is therefore 

26 
liable pursuant to Section 2(a)(I)(B) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(I)(B) 

27 

28 

23 
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(2006 ), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F .R. § 1.2 (20 1 0), as principal for 

Glytenko's violations of the Act. 

58. Glytenko, directly or indirectly, controlled DIP and did not act 

5 in good faith, or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts 

6 
constituting DIP's violations ofthe Act. Therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) 

7 

8 of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006), Glytenko is liable for DIP's violations 

9 of the Act. 

10 
59. Each act offhlUdulent solicitation, misappropriation, and false 

11 

12 statement or repmt, including but not limited to those specifically alleged 

13 herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Sections 4o( 1 )(A) 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

and (B) ofthe Act as amended, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6o(I)(A) and (B). 

COUNT FIVE 

VIOLATIONS OF COMMISSION REGULATION 4.4l(b): 
ADVERTISING BY COMMODITY POOL OPERATORS, 

COMMODITY TRADING ADVISORS, AND PRINCIPALS 
THEREOF 

60. Commission Regulation 4.41 (b), 1 7 C.F .R. § 4.41 (b )(20 12), 

22 provides that "[n]o person may present the performance of any simulated or 

23 hypothetical commodity interest account, transaction in a commodity 

24 

25 
interest or series of transactions in a commodity interest of a commodity 

26 pool operator, commodity trading advisor, or any principal thereof' unless 

27 such performance is accompanied by a statement that identifies the results as 

28 

24 
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simulated or hypothetical and descri bes the inherent limitations of simulated 

2 
or hypothet ical trading. 

3 

4 61. By presenting simulated or hypothetical performance resul ts to 

5 prospective parlicipants in its solicitation material and to participants in the 

6 
passvvord-protected section of DIP's website without including the required 

7 

8 statement, DIP, by and through the actions ofGiytenko, among others, 

9 violated Commission Regulation 4.41 (b), 17 C.F.R. § 4.41 (b )(20 12) . 

10 
62. Glytenko committed the acts alleged herein within the course 

I I 

12 and scope of his employment, office, or agency with Dl P. 0 1 P is therefore 

13 liable pursuant to Section 2(a)( I )(B) of the Act, 7 LJ.S.C. § 2(a)( I )(B) 

14 

15 
(2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.P.R. § 1.2 (20 I 0), as principal for 

16 Glytcnko's violations of the Act. 

17 

18 

19 

63. Glytenko, directly or ind irectly, controlled DJ P and did not act 

in good fait h, or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts 

20 constituting 0 1 P's violations of the Act. Therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) 

21 

22 

23 

of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006), Glytcnko is liable for Dl P's violations 

of the Act. 

24 64. Each act of presenting simulated or hypothetical perfonnace 

25 resu lts without including the required statement, including but not limited to 

26 

27 

28 

25 
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those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct 

2 
violation of Commission Regulation 4.4 1 (b), 17 C.F.R. § 4.4 1 (b)(20 12). 

3 

4 
VI. RELIEF RF.QUESTED 

5 WHEREFORE, the Commission respectful ly requests that this Court, 

(i 
as authorized by Section 6c of the 1\ct, as amended, 7 U.S.C. §13a- l , and 

7 

8 
pursuant to its own equitable povvcrs enter: 

9 /\ . /\n order find ing Defendants violated: I) Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-

10 
(iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) (2006), with respect to acts 

I I 

12 occurri ng before June 18, 2008, Sections 4b(a)( I )(A)-(C) of the Act, as 

13 amended by the CR/\, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)( I )(/\)-(C) (Supp. II 2009), for 

14 
conduct occurring on or a fter June 18, 2008, and Sections 4b(a)( I )(A)-(C) of 

15 

16 the Act, as amended by the Dodd-Frank 1\et, Pub. L. No. 111 -203, Title VII 

17 (the Wall Street Transparency and Accountabil ity Act of 20 I 0), §§ 70 1-774, 

18 
124 Stat. 1376 (effective July 16, 20 11), 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)( l)(/\)-(C) (Supp. 

19 

20 IV 20 I I), for conduct occurring on or after July 16, 20 II ; 2) Sections 

21 4o( l)(/\) and (8) of the Act as amended, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6o( l)(/\) and (B); and 

22 
3) Commission Regulation 4.4 1 (b), 17 C.F.R. § 4.4 1 (b)(20 12); 

23 

24 B. An order of pennancnt injunction enjoini ng Defendants and all 

25 persons insofar as they are acting in the capacity of their agents, servants, 

26 
employees, successors, assigns, and attorneys, and all persons insofar as they 

27 

28 
2(j 
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are acting in active concert or pat1icipation with Defendants who receive 

2 
actual notice of such order by personal service or otherwise, from directly or 

3 

4 indirectly: 

5 I. Engaging in conduct in violation of Sections 4b(a)(l )(A)-

6 
(C) of the Act, as amended by the Dodd-Frank Act, Pub. L. No. 111-203, 

7 

8 Title VII (the Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act of2010), §§ 

9 701-774, 124 Stat. 1376 (effective July 16, 2011), 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(A)­

IO 
(C) (Supp. IV 20 II); 2) Sections 4o( I )(A) and (B) of the Act as amended, 7 

II 

12 U.S.C. §§ 6o(l)(A) and (B); and 3) Commission Regulation 4.4l(b), 17 

13 C.F.R. § 4.4l(b)(2012); 

14 

15 
2. Trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity 

16 (as that term is defined in Section la(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(29) 

17 (2006)); 

18 

19 
3. Entering into any tmnsactions involving commodity 

20 futures, options on commodity futures, commodity options (as that te1m is 

2l defined in Regulations 1.3(hh) and 32.l(b)(l), 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.3(hh) and 

22 
32.1(b)(1) (2013)) ("commodity options"), security futures products, swaps 

23 

24 (as that term is defined in Section la{47) of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 

25 1(a)(47) (2012) and as further defined by Commission Regulation 1.3(xxx), 

26 
17 C.F.R. § 1.3(xxx) (2013)) ("swaps") and/or foreign cutTency (as 

27 

28 

27 
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described in Sections 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 

2 
2(c)(2)(B) ancl2(c)(2)(C)(i) (20 12)) ("forex contracts")), for their own 

3 

4 
personal or proprietary account or for any account in which they have a 

5 direct or indirect interest; 

(i 
4. I laving any commodity futures, oplions on commodity 

7 

8 futures, commod ity options, secmity futures products, swaps, ~mel/or lorex 

9 contracts traded on their behalf; 

10 
5. Controlling or directing the trading for or on behalf of 

II 

12 any other person or entity, whether by power ofatlorney or otherwise, in any 

13 account involving commodity futures, options on commodity futures, 

14 

IS 

16 

commodi ty options, security fu tures products, swaps, and/or forex contracts; 

6. Soliciting, receiving, or accepting any funds from any 

17 person for the purpose of purchasing or sell ing any commodity futures, 

18 
options on commodity futures, commodity opt ions, security futures 

19 

20 products, swaps, and/or forex contracts; 

21 

22 

23 

7. Applying for registration or claiming exemption from 

registration with the Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any 

24 act ivity requiring such registration or exemption from registration with the 

25 Commission, except as provided for in Regulation 4. 14(a)(9), 17 C. r.R. § 

26 
4. 14(a)(9) (20 I 0); and 

27 

28 

28 
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8. Acting as a principal (as that term is defined in 

2 
Regulation 3.1(a), 17 C.F.R. § 3.l(a) (201 0)), agent or any other officer or 

3 

4 employee of any person registered, exempted from registration or required to 

5 be registered with the Commission, except as provided for in Regulation 

6 

7 

8 

4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2010). 

c. Enter an order directing Defendants, as well as any successors 

9 to any Defendant, to disgorge, pursuant to such procedure as the Court may 

10 
order, all ill-gotten gains and/or benefits received from the acts or practices 

11 

12 that constitute violations of the Act and Regulations, as described herein, 

13 and pre- and post-judgment interest thereon· from the date of such violations; 

14 

15 
D. Enter an order requiring Defendants to make full restitution to 

16 every person or entity whose funds Defendants received or caused another 

17 person or entity to receive as a result of acts and practices that constituted 

18 

19 
violations of the Act, as described herein, and pre- and post-judgment 

20 interest thereon from the date of such violations; 

21 

22 

E. Enter an order directing each Defendant to each pay civil 

monetary penalties of not more than the higher of $130,000 for each 
23 

24 violation of the Act or Regulations occun·ing between October 23, 2004 and 

25 October 22, 2008, and $140,000 for each violation of the Act or Regulations 
26 

occu.,-ing on or after October 23, 2008, or triple the monetary gain to 
27 

28 

29 
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Defendants, plus post-judgment interest thereon from the date of such 

2 
violations; 

3 

4 
F. Enter an order requi ring Defendants to pay costs and fees as 

5 permi tted by 28 U.S.C. §§ 1920 and 24 12(a)(2) (2006); and 

6 

7 
G. Enter any order providing such other and further relief as this 

8 Court may deem necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. 

9 

10 

I I 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Respectful ly submitted, 

James H. - oil , Til 
ChiefTrial Attorney 
Alan l. Edelman 
Senior Trial Attorney 
I 155 21st Street, NW 
Washington, DC 2058 1 
Telephone: (202) 4 18-5000 
Facsimile: (202) 418-5523 
jholl@cftc.gov 
aeclelman@cftc.gov 
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